

STATE OF NEVADA



PERRY FAIGIN
NIKKI HAAG
MARCEL F. SCHAEERER
Deputy Directors

MERLE LOK
Executive Director

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY
OFFICE OF NEVADA BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COUNCILS STANDARDS
NEVADA STATE BOARD OF ORIENTAL MEDICINE

**NOTICE OF WORKSHOP TO SOLICIT COMMENTS ON SEVERAL PROPOSED
NEW REGULATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING REGULATIONS AND
WORKSHOP AGENDA**

The State of Nevada, Department of Business and Industry, Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine (the Board) is proposing the adoption, amendment or repeal of several regulations pertaining to chapter 634A of the Nevada Administrative Code (NAC).

A workshop has been set for 2 p.m. on Tuesday, June 23, 2026, at the following location:

6550 S. Pecos Road, Building B (conference room)
Las Vegas, NV 89120

Interested persons may also participate through a simultaneous Zoom videoconference link, which is available at:

Videoconference: <https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9737003097>

Meeting ID: 973 700 3097

Passcode: 009262

Telephone: 1-253-215-8782

Meeting ID: 973 700 3097

Passcode: 009262

Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to notify our office prior to the day before the meeting by calling (702) 675-5326 no later than two (2) working days prior to the scheduled meeting. The purpose of the

workshop is to solicit comments from interested persons on the following general topic(s) that may be addressed in the proposed regulation(s); and to assist in determining whether the proposed regulation additions and amendments are likely to impose a direct and significant burden upon a small business or directly restricts the formation, operation or expansion of a small business.

A copy of all materials relating to the proposal(s) may be obtained at the workshop at the address listed above or by visiting the Division's Internet Web site at <https://orientalmedicine.nv.gov>. A reasonable fee for copying may be charged. Members of the public who would like additional information about a proposed regulation may contact Merle Lok at (702) 675-5326, or via e-mail to omboardexecutivedirector@gmail.com. **Please submit any written comments no later than 12:00 p.m. (noon) PT, Monday, June 15, 2026.** Notice of the workshop was provided via electronic means to all persons on the agency's e-mail list for noticing of administrative regulations. This Notice of Workshop to Solicit Comments on Proposed Regulations is also being posted to the agency's Internet Web site at <https://orientalmedicine.nv.gov>, the Nevada Legislature's Internet Web site at <http://www.leg.state.nv.us>, and at the following locations: 3431 E. Sunset Road, #21, Las Vegas, NV 89120.

DATED this 1st day of June, 2026.

/s/ Merle Lok

Merle Lok, Executive Director

WORKSHOP AGENDA

1. Open Workshop: Opening remarks; intent of regulations; opening public comment
2. Presentation of proposed regulations/amendments and individual public comment on each
 - A. NAC 634A.071 Application deletes the requirement for the Applicant's social security number;
 - B. NAC 634A.080 Updates the name of the national organization, and clarifies the requirement of a current valid license in another state for endorsement eligibility; deletes the requirement for chemistry or biochemistry;
 - C. NAC 634A.085 Updates the name of the national organization;
 - D. NAC 634A.133 Updates the name of the national organization;
 - E. NAC 634A.137 Expands the automatic acceptance of all continuing education classes approved by the national organization;
 - F. NAC 634A.142 Adopts the national organization's Acupuncture Point Injection Therapy ("APIT") certificate of qualification and allows prior APIT endorsees registered with the Board prior to 2/1/2027 to maintain their endorsement status.
 - G. NAC 634A.165 Reduces and eliminates certain fees.

3. Any general closing public comment

4. Close Workshop.

Please note any agenda item may be taken out of order; items may be combined for consideration by the public body; items may be pulled or removed from the agenda at any time; and discussion relating to an item may be delayed or continued at any time. The meeting presenter, within his/her discretion, may allow for public comment on individual agenda items.

Please note the language in these proposed regulations is draft language only and will be sent to the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB), who will take these ideas (along with any edits made subsequent to the workshops) and draft a version using LCB writing style. Thus, even if the language below is considered generally acceptable by stakeholders, the final written product may vary based on LCB preferred language.

PROPOSED CHANGES TO NAC 634A (2026)

Color key:

Blue: Proposed language to be added

Purple: Language already added or deleted from 2024 approved regulations

Red/Purple strike-through line: Language to be deleted

Purple – language already added or deleted from 2024 approved regulations

NAC 634A.071 Application: General requirements. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.110)

1. A person who desires to be licensed by the Board as a doctor of Oriental medicine must, at least 3 months before the date of the state examination in which the person wishes to participate:

(a) File an application with the Executive Director;

(b) Pay to the Board at the time of filing his or her application any applicable fees set forth in NAC 634A.165; and

(c) Submit any other documentation or proof that the Board may require.

2. The application must be:

(a) Made on the form provided by the Board; and

(b) Typed or written in English.

3. The application must include:

~~(a) The social security number of the applicant;~~

~~(a)(b)~~ A set of the fingerprints of the applicant, together with written consent for the Board to submit the fingerprints to any law enforcement agency in connection with his or her application;

(b) ~~(e)~~ Written consent of the applicant to an investigation of his or her personal background, professional training and experience by the Board or any person acting on its behalf; and

(c) ~~(d)~~ Evidence that the applicant possesses the qualifications required pursuant to this chapter and chapter 634A of NRS for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine.

(Added to NAC by Bd. of Oriental Med. by R071-02, eff. 11-25-2002; A by R072-18, 12-19-2018; R026-22, 9-28-2022)

NAC 634A.080 Evidence of qualifications of applicant; approval of program of study. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.080, 634A.090, 634A.140)

1. An applicant for a license to practice Oriental medicine must submit, together with his or her application, evidence that he or she has successfully completed a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine at a school or college of Oriental medicine which is approved by the Board.

2. If the application is submitted pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS 634A.140, the applicant must submit evidence showing that he or she has earned a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the United States.

3. If the application for licensure by endorsement is submitted pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 634A.140, the applicant must submit evidence that he or she:

(a) Has lawfully practiced Oriental medicine in another state or foreign country for at least 4 years; ~~and~~

(b) Holds a Diplomate of Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine ~~Oriental Medicine Certification~~ from ~~by~~ the National Certification ~~Commission~~ Board for Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine or its successor organization; ~~and~~

(c) If the applicant successfully completed a 4-year program of study at a school or college of Oriental medicine described in subparagraph (3) of paragraph (a) of subsection 4, holds a valid license to practice Oriental medicine in the applicable state.

4. For the purposes of subsection 1, the Board may approve a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine at a school or college of Oriental medicine if the Board finds that:

(a) The school or college of Oriental medicine is:

(1) Accredited by the Accreditation Commission for Acupuncture and ~~Oriental~~ Herbal Medicine or its successor organization; ~~or~~

(2) In pre-accreditation status with the Accreditation Commission for Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine or its successor organization; and satisfies the requirements of paragraph (b); ~~or~~

(3) Approved by a licensing agency that regulates the practice of Oriental medicine in another state, if the applicant currently holds a valid license to practice Oriental medicine in that state;

(b) The program of study includes training or instruction in the subjects of acupuncture, moxibustion, herbology, Oriental physiology, Oriental pathology, Oriental diagnosis, tuina or qigong, biology, ~~chemistry or biochemistry~~, anatomy, Western physiology, Western pathology, Western diagnosis, pharmacology, laboratory and radiology; ~~and~~

(c) The program of study:

(1) Required the completion of at least 2,800 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours, for a student to have graduated before November 25, 2002; or

(2) Requires the completion of at least 3,000 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours, for a student to graduate on or after November 25, 2002, or results in the award of a combined bachelor's and master's degree in Oriental medicine to a student who graduates on or after November 25, 2002.

5. For the purposes of subsection 1, the Board will deem a master's degree to be the equivalent of a 4-year program of study if the program of study for the degree conforms to the requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection 4.

6. For the purposes of subsections 2 and 3, evidence that the applicant is qualified for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine must include certified copies of any diplomas, transcripts, licenses and certificates issued to the applicant. If possible, all certified copies of official diplomas, transcripts, licenses or certificates must be forwarded directly to the Executive Director from the issuing entity rather than from the applicant.

[Bd. of Oriental Med., Art. IV part § 1, eff. 7-19-76; + Art. V part § 1, eff. 4-26-74]—(NAC A 1-22-92; R071-02, 11-25-2002; R072-18, 12-19-2018; R026-22, 9-28-2022)

NAC 634A.085 Compliance with requirement of passing national examination. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.120) To comply with the requirement of passing the national examination in Oriental medicine, an applicant for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine must have passed each examination for a Diplomate of Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine ~~Oriental Medicine Certification~~ from ~~by~~ the National Certification ~~Commission~~ Board for Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine or its successor organization.

(Added to NAC by Bd. of Oriental Med. by R071-02, eff. 11-25-2002; A by R193-07, 6-17-2008; R072-18, 12-19-2018; R026-22, 9-28-2022)

NAC 634A.133 Holder of license issued after December 31, 2018, required to maintain national certification; proof of certification. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.110, 634A.160, 634A.167) Each holder of a new license that is first issued after December 31, 2018, including, without limitation, a holder of a license by endorsement issued pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 634A.140, shall:

1. Maintain a Diplomate of Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine ~~Oriental Medicine Certification~~ from ~~by~~ the National Certification ~~Commission~~ Board for Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine or its successor organization; and

2. Provide proof of unexpired Diplomate of Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine from ~~by~~ the National Certification ~~Commission~~ Board for Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine or its successor organization ~~certification~~ to the Executive Director upon:

(a) Each annual license renewal; and

~~—(b) Recertification; and~~

(b) ~~(e)~~ The change of classification of his or her license from inactive status to active status.

(Added to NAC by Bd. of Oriental Med. by R072-18, eff. 12-19-2018)

NAC 634A.137 Approval of courses of continuing education; application; exception from approval and exemption from fees for certain courses; expiration of approval. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.225)

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, a person or entity shall not offer a course of continuing education for licensees in this State unless the person or entity has first obtained approval for the course from the Board pursuant to this section.

2. Courses ~~in any of the core competencies of Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine and Biomedicine (AOM-BIO), Oriental Medicine Foundation and Theory (AOM-OM), Acupuncture (AOM-AC), Chinese Herbology (AOM-CH), Asian Bodywork Therapy (AOM-ABT), Safety (SA), Ethics (ET), which are approved for recertification~~ by the National Certification ~~Commission~~ Board for Acupuncture and ~~Oriental~~ Herbal Medicine or its successor organization, may be offered as courses of continuing education for licensees in this State without approval from the Board and are exempt from the imposition of fees for approval of courses of continuing education pursuant to NAC 634A.165.

3. A person or entity may apply for approval of a course of continuing education by submitting to the Board:

(a) An application, on a form provided by the Board, which must include information indicating the specific subject or topics to be presented and the name of each proposed instructor;

(b) All material relating to the course, including, without limitation, written material to be provided to a licensee attending the course; and

(c) The fee required pursuant to NAC 634A.165.

4. If the Board approves a course of continuing education pursuant to this section, the Board will determine the number of hours of continuing education that a licensee may receive for attending the course.

5. Board approval of a course of continuing education other than a course described in subsection 2 expires 4 years after that approval.

(Added to NAC by Bd. of Oriental Med. by R071-02, eff. 11-25-2002; A by R072-18, 12-19-2018; R026-22, 9-28-2022)

NAC 634A.142 Endorsement to practice acupuncture point injection therapy.

1. A doctor of Oriental medicine licensed pursuant to this chapter may apply to the Board for an endorsement to practice acupuncture point injection therapy. The applicant must submit with his or her application proof that the applicant has:

(a) Successfully completed the Acupuncture Injection Therapy Certificate of Qualification from the National Certification Board for Acupuncture and Herbal Medicine or its successor organization, effective 2/1/2027; and

(b) Obtained and carries an unexpired policy of professional liability insurance which insures the applicant against any liability arising from the provision of acupuncture point injection therapy by the applicant.

2. The Board shall issue an endorsement to practice acupuncture point injection therapy to an applicant who meets the requirements of subsection 1.

3. A licensee who is issued an endorsement to practice acupuncture point injection therapy may only inject substances for which the licensee has received training which may include, without limitation, nutritional, homeopathic and herbal substances.

4. As used in this section, “acupuncture point injection therapy” means the subcutaneous, intramuscular and intradermal injection of substances to stimulate acupuncture points, ashi points, and trigger points to relieve pain and prevent illness.

5. Acupuncture Point Injection Therapy endorsees actively registered with the Board prior to 2/1/2027 shall be permitted to maintain their endorsement status under the terms of the prior regulations.

NAC 634A.165 Fees of Board. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.110, 634A.160, 634A.165)
The Board will charge and collect the following fees:

Original application for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine.....	\$1,000,
	\$900, \$500
Renewal of active license before February 1.....	700, 600,
	500
Renewal of inactive license before February 1.....	500.00
Penalty for late renewal of license within 90 days after February 1.....	100.00
Renewal of active license of an active member of the Armed Forces of the United States, a veteran or the spouse of such a veteran or veteran before February 1	500, 400
Replacement of pocket license.....	100.00
Replacement of license.....	200.00
Original fee for state examination.....	1,000, 900,
	500
Reexamination fee for state examination.....	500.00
Approval of course of continuing education.....	100.00
Temporary certificate for lecturing or training.....	100.00
Check returned for insufficient funds.....	25.00
For copies of this chapter and chapter 634A of NRS.....	10.00
For other copies, per page.....	0.25
For other copies, per compact disc or tape recording.....	20.00
Original application fee for a school or college of Oriental medicine.....	2,000.00
Annual fee for approval of curriculum before February 1.....	1,000.00

**SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT
CHANGES TO NAC 634A
June 1, 2026**

Changes to NAC 634A Small Business Impact Statement Pursuant to NRS233B.0608:

- 1. Describe the manner in which comment was solicited from affected small businesses, a summary of the response from small businesses and an explanation of the manner in which other interested persons may obtain a copy of the summary.**

On 5/21/2026, a small business impact survey form (“SBIS Form”) and the proposed regulation changes were sent to all licensed Oriental Medicine Doctors and requestors on the mailing list to determine the impact of the proposed regulations. Also, the SBIS Form is posted on the website of the Board of Oriental Medicine along with the proposed regulation changes.

The Board of Oriental Medicine received 3 responses on the SBIS Form indicating that there was no economic impact on their businesses. The Board of Oriental Medicine also received 2 other public comments regarding the new applicant fee reduction and Acupuncture Injection Point Therapy proposed requirements.

Interested persons may contact Merle Lok, Executive Director, Board of Oriental Medicine, 3431 E. Sunset Road, C21, Las Vegas, NV 89120, omboardexecutivedirector@gmail.com, 702-675-5326.

- 2. The manner in which the analysis was conducted (if an impact was determined).**

On 5/21/2026, the SBIS Form and the proposed regulation changes were sent to all licensed Oriental Medicine Doctors and requestors on the mailing list to determine the impact of the proposed regulations. Also, the SBIS Form is posted on the website of the Board of Oriental Medicine along with the proposed regulation changes. No economic impact was indicated by the small business impact surveys.

- 3. The estimated economic effect of the proposed regulation on small businesses:**

a. Both adverse and beneficial effects

There is no adverse impact based upon the small business impact survey. The benefits include provisions the reduction and elimination of certain Board fees and other matters properly relating thereto.

b. Both direct and indirect effects

See 3 a. The proposed regulation is not expected to impose an economic burden upon small businesses or restrict the formation, operation or expansion of small businesses.

4. A description of the methods that the agency considered to reduce the impact of the proposed regulation on small businesses and a statement regarding whether the agency actually used any of the methods. *(Include a discussion of any considerations of the methods listed below.)*

A. Simplification of the proposed regulation

There has not been any recommendations by the public regarding the proposed regulations.

B. Establishment of different standards of compliance for a small business

N/A

C. Modification of fees or fines so that a small business is authorized to pay a lower fee or fine.

Please see Proposed Regulations under NAC 634A.165.

5. The estimated cost to the agency for enforcement of the proposed regulation. *(Include a discussion of the methods used to estimate those costs.)*

None.

6. If this regulation provides for a new fee or increases an existing fee, the total annual amount the agency expects to collect and manner in which the money will be used.

These regulations do not provide any new fees or increase of fees.

7. If the proposed regulation includes provisions which duplicate or are more stringent than federal, state or local standards regulating the same activity, provide an explanation of why such duplicative or more stringent provisions are necessary.

The proposed regulations do not include provisions which duplicate or are more stringent than any federal, state or local standards regulating the same activity.

8. The reasons for the conclusions regarding the impact of a regulation on small businesses.

Based upon the responses from the small business impact survey, the proposed regulations do not impose an economic burden upon small businesses or restrict the formation, operation or expansion of small businesses.

I certify that to the best of my knowledge or belief, a concerted effort was made to determine the

impact of the proposed regulation on a small business and that this statement was properly prepared and the information contained in this statement is accurate.

DATED this 1st day of June, 2026.

/s/ Merle Lok

Merle Lok, Executive Director

This meeting has been properly noticed and posted in the following locations:

Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine – 3431 E. Sunset Rd, C21., Las Vegas, NV 89120

Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine website: <http://orientalmedicine.nv.gov/>

State of Nevada Public Notice Website: www.nv.gov

Legislative Counsel Bureau Administrative Regulation Notices: www.leg.state.nv.us

Nevada State Library Archives, 100 Stewart Street, Carson City, NV